73413-0

73413-0

FILED
December 17, 2015
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington

NO. 73413-0-I

THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

DIVISION ONE

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

ABDISHAKUR IBRAHIM,

Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE
STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR KING COUNTY

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

TRAVIS STEARNS
Attorney for Appellant

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT
1511 Third Avenue, Suite 701
Seattle, WA 98101
(206) 587-2711

A. INTRODUCTION

Studies conducted by psychologists and legal researchers since *Mason v. Brathwaite* have confirmed that eyewitness testimony is often hopelessly unreliable. Eyewitness misidentification is a factor in 75% of DNA exoneration cases. Nevertheless, jurors tend to over rely upon eyewitness testimony, even where the identification procedures employed by the police are suggestive.

Abdishakur Ibrahim was the subject of an unduly suggestive identification procedure. The eyewitness heard before the procedure took place that his assailants had been apprehended. He was never warned the suspects might not be his assailants and he viewed each of them sequentially under the glare of a spotlight, while they were in handcuffs and surrounded by police officers. The court should have suppressed the identification as unduly suggestive.

The trial court was asked to instruct the jury on how to evaluate eyewitness testimony but declined to do so, despite this being a central issue to Mr. Ibrahim's defense. This failure to instruct the jury upon eyewitness testimony denied Mr. Ibrahim the opportunity to fairly argue his defense. He is entitled to a new trial.

B. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. Mr. Ibrahim's due process rights were violated when the court admitted identification evidence which was impermissively suggestive and created a likelihood of misidentification.

2. Mr. Ibrahim's opportunity to fairly argue his defense was denied when the court failed to provide required instructions to the jury on eyewitness testimony.

C. ISSUES PERTAINING TO THE ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. Suggestive identification procedures increase the likelihood of misidentification. Because eyewitnesses view only people the police believe to be suspects, show-up identifications are inherently suggestive. Here, the confirmatory identification took place after the police told the eyewitness the three people found in his stolen vehicle were the suspects in his robbery. The police then took the eyewitness to where his car had been recovered and showed the eyewitness each of the suspects, who were handcuffed and clearly in police custody. Was suppression of this unduly suggestive identification procedure required?

2. Jurors tend to over believe eyewitnesses, have an insufficient understanding of the factors that affect memory, and are overly swayed

by eyewitness confidence. A defendant is entitled to jury instructions which enable him to argue his defense. Was Mr. Ibrahim denied the opportunity to fairly argue his defense where the trial court failed to instruct the jury upon eyewitness testimony where identification was the central issue in his defense?

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On October 22, 2014, Mike Harris was robbed at gun point by three men. CP 1. Mr. Harris testified he was looking to give people car rides from downtown Seattle near 3rd Avenue and Yesler Street when he was asked by an African man and his two friends whether he would give them a ride to Tukwila. RP 496.¹ He agreed upon the condition they would pay him. RP 496. Mr. Harris had some conversation with the passenger in the front seat, but did not speak with the men in the back seat. RP He focused upon his music. RP 471, RP 535. When he got to Tukwila, the front seat passenger asked him to park behind a Moneytree Store. RP 474. Everyone got out of the car and one of the men pointed a firearm at Mr. Harris and demanded his money. RP 477.

¹ The transcript consists of seven volumes of trial transcripts and one relating to sentencing. Counsel will refer to the trial transcripts using the notation "RP". The sentencing transcript will be referred to by its date and page.

The men then got into a fight before the three assailants took Mr. Harris' car. RP 477.

Mr. Harris called the police. Dep. Jose Bartolo met with Mr. Harris and took a "generic description" of the three suspects from him. RP 60. While the officer was taking Mr. Harris' statement, a call came over the radio that three men had been apprehended in Mr. Harris' car. RP 42. Approximately 50 minutes had passed since the robbery occurred. RP 54. Mr. Harris was taken to where his car had been seized. RP 502. He saw his car and the gun he believed was used to rob him. RP 539-540. He saw a number of police cars and officers. RP 494-50. He was never admonished that the men he was being shown could not be suspects in his robbery. RP 55. A spotlight was then shown on each of three men who were brought before him handcuffed and surrounded by the police. RP 47. Each man was placed into a spotlight beam shining from Dep. Bartolo's car. RP 47. Mr. Harris identified each of them as the men who had robbed him. RP 46. Mr. Ibrahim was identified by Mr. Harris as one of the men involved in the robbery. RP 351. He was charged with robbery in the first degree. CP 1.

Prior to trial, the court held a hearing to determine whether the police had employed an unduly suggestive show-up procedure. Dep.

Bartolo was the only witness who testified at this hearing. RP 39. The court found that the identification procedure was not unduly suggestive and denied defense motions to suppress. RP 104.

The central issue at trial was the identification of Mr. Harris' assailants. Mr. Harris told the jury he had never met the men who robbed him before that night. RP 469. He admitted his opportunity to observe his assailants was limited. RP 536. His description of the men who robbed him was inconsistent with his prior description of his assailants, all of whom he described as young and one of whom he described as 15 to 16 years old, in contrast to Mr. Ibrahim's charged co-defendant, who was actually old enough to have gray hair. RP 407.

Defense counsel asked that the jury be instructed on factors the jury should weigh when evaluating eyewitness testimony. RP 565. The court declined to instruct the jury upon eyewitness testimony. RP 572. The court found the general instruction sufficient. RP 574.

The jury found Mr. Ibrahim guilty. CP 12. He was sentenced to 35 months. CP 35.

E. ARGUMENT

1. The failure of the court to suppress the unduly suggestive identification procedure requires reversal.

a. Show-up procedures are inherently unduly suggestive.

Show-up identifications are inherently suggestive because the eyewitness views only those particular people that the police have identified as suspects. *State v. Ramirez*, 109 Wn.App. 749, 761, 37 P.3d 343, rev. denied, 146 Wn.2d 1022 (2002); see *State v. Herrera*, 902 A.2d 177, 183 (N.J. 2006). This Court has recognized that “the practice of showing suspects singly to persons for the purpose of identification has been widely condemned.” *State v. Rogers*, 44 Wn.App. 510, 516, 722 P.2d 1349 (1986).

In fact, suggestive procedures increase the likelihood of misidentification. *United States v. Wade*, 388 U.S. 218, 228, 87 S. Ct. 1926, 18 L.Ed.2d 1149 (1967). A witness’s recollection of a stranger, viewed under circumstances of emergency or emotional distress, can be easily distorted by the circumstances or by the actions of the police. *Mason v. Brathwaite*, 432 U.S. 98, 112, 97 S. Ct. 2243, 53 L.Ed.2d 140 (1977). “[T]he dangers for the suspect are particularly grave when the witness’s opportunity for observation was insubstantial and thus his

susceptibility to suggestion is the greatest.” *Wade*, 388 U.S. at 229. Impermissibly suggestive out-of-court identification procedures, including show-up procedures, violate due process where there is a substantial likelihood of irreparable misidentification. U.S. Const. amend. XIV; Const. art. I, § 3.

“Indeed, studies conducted by psychologists and legal researchers since *Brathwaite* have confirmed that eyewitness testimony is often hopelessly unreliable.” *Comm. v. Johnson*, 650 N.E.2d 1257, 1262 (Mass. 1995). “Eyewitness misidentification is the leading cause of wrongful convictions, a factor in 75 percent of post-conviction DNA exoneration cases.” Jason Cantone, *Do You Hear What I Hear?: Empirical Research on Eyewitness Testimony*, 17 *TxWLR* 123, 129 (Winter 2011); see Veronica Valdivieso, *DNA Warrants: A Panacea for Old, Cold Rape Cases?*, 90 *Geo. L.J.* 1009, 118 n.83 (2002) (“Eyewitness testimony, for example, is widely accepted in the courtroom, yet it has been demonstrated to be ‘notoriously unreliable-- in some circumstances more often wrong than right.’”).

When an identification procedure is both suggestive and likely to give rise to a substantial risk of misidentification, it must be suppressed. *State v. Hilliard*, 89 *Wn.2d* 430, 438, 573 *P.2d* 22 (1977);

Brathwaite, 432 U.S. at 144; *see* U.S. Const. amend. XIV; Const. art. I, § 3. A two-step inquiry is involved: first, a court must determine whether the identification procedure is suggestive. *State v. Kinard*, 109 Wn.App. 428, 432, 36 P.3d 573 (2001). If the police used a suggestive procedure, the court decides whether the suggestiveness created a substantial likelihood of misidentification. *Id.* There are five factors traditionally considered in this second inquiry: (1) the opportunity of the witness to view the suspect at the time of the crime, (2) the witness's level of attention, (3) the accuracy of the witness's description of the offender, (4) the level of certainty at confrontation, and (5) the time between the offense and confrontation. *State v. Barker*, 103 Wn.App. 893, 905, 14 P.3d 863 (2000); *Neil v. Biggers*, 409 U.S. 188, 199-200, 193 S. Ct. 357, 34 L.Ed.2d 401 (1972).

b. Mr. Ibrahim was subjected to an unduly suggestive show-up procedure.

Mr. Ibrahim was subjected to an unduly suggestive show-up procedure. After the robbery occurred, Dep. Bartolo met Mr. Harris. RP 42. Mr. Harris told the deputy he did not interact with the suspects during the drive to Tukwila. RP 54. Approximately an hour had passed from when Mr. Harris was robbed and when the call came in that suspects had been arrested. RP 54. Dep. Bartolo testified that Mr.

Harris only gave a “pretty generic description” of the people who had robbed him. RP 60. The deputy instead wrote the description he had gotten from the CAD report² and confirmed with Mr. Harris that this description matched who he believed to be the suspects. RP 60.

The CAD report came from Mr. Harris’ 911 call. In this call, Mr. Harris described his assailants as young men, which did not match the description of the men arrested, who were much older. RP 90. In addition, the clothing Mr. Harris described his assailants as having worn was inconsistent with what the suspects in the show-up were wearing.³ RP 90. While the deputy believed “[i]t sounded as if he [Mr. Harris] knew who they were or what they looked like,” the officer never actually had Mr. Harris describe the men except in generic terms, instead relying upon the CAD report. RP 60.

While the deputy was taking Mr. Harris’ statement, a radio call came out notifying the police that Mr. Harris’ car had been found. RP 42. The deputy told Mr. Harris they would go to the location where the vehicle had been stopped to identify the suspects. RP 42. He did not

² Computer-aided dispatch (CAD), also called computer-assisted dispatch, is a method of dispatching taxicabs, couriers, field service technicians, mass transit vehicles or emergency services assisted by computer. Wikipedia, the Free Encyclopedia, Computer-aided dispatch, https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Computer-aided_dispatch.

³ The parties agreed that Mr. Ali was wearing different clothes than had been described by Mr. Harris in the 911 call. RP 90.

advise Mr. Harris that the real suspects may or may not be present. RP 55.

At the scene, Mr. Harris was put into a situation where he was going to identify the suspects as the people who robbed him, no matter who he saw. Mr. Harris was taken to where the suspects were. RP 45. He was aware the police believed they had apprehended the people who had robbed him. An hour had passed between the robbery and the identification procedure. RP 89. Mr. Harris never had a good opportunity to view his assailants, but he was angry and ready to make an identification. RP 51.

The procedures the police employed ensured he would make a positive identification. Each of the suspects were in handcuffs when Mr. Harris identified them. RP 45. They were surrounded by a number of police vehicles, with their lights flashing. RP 57. Mr. Harris remained in the deputy's police car and identified each suspect from approximately three car lengths away from where they were each held. RP 46. Each of the suspects were brought into a spotlight, standing next to a police officer, clearly indicating they were in custody. RP 47.

c. The admission of the unduly suggestive identification procedure and subsequent in court identification requires this Court to order a new trial.

This Court should find that the show-up identification was unduly suggestive. Evidence of a show-up identification should be excluded if the identification procedure was so impermissibly suggestive as to give rise to a substantial likelihood of irreparable misidentification. *State v. Linares*, 98 Wn.App. 397, 401, 989 P.2d 591 (1999) (*discussing Brathwaite*, 432 U.S. at 114). Because the show-up procedure was unduly suggestive, the court must determine the likelihood of misidentification. *Barker*, 103 Wn.App. at 905.

When the deputy informed Mr. Harris the police had three persons in custody for robbing him, he increased the likelihood of an improper identification. Gary L. Wells & Deah S. Quinlivan, *Suggestive Eyewitness Identification Procedures and The Supreme Court's Reliability Test in Light of Eyewitness Science: Thirty Years Later*, 33 Law & Hum. Behav. 1, 6-7 (Feb. 2009) (rates of misidentification increase when law enforcement tell witness police have found a suspect); *see also State v. McDonald*, 40 Wn.App. 743, 746, 700 P.2d 327 (1985).

The witness's opportunity to view the suspect is evaluated based on the amount of time that a witness had to view the perpetrator and the circumstances under which the observation took place. *Barker*, 103

Wn.App. at 905. While the evidence showed that Mr. Harris was in a car with the three suspects from Seattle to Tukwila, his focus was never upon the suspect identified as Mr. Ibrahim. RP 91. Instead, he focused upon the front passenger and listened to his music. RP 54. The circumstances under which the identification took place ensured Mr. Harris would make a positive identification, regardless of who was in police custody.

Further, Mr. Harris's description and the identified suspect's appearance weigh against admissibility. *See, e.g., Rogers*, 44 Wn. App. at 516. In *McDonald*, an important factor in suppressing the identification was the difference in the description of the suspect's clothing. 40 Wn.App. at 747. Here, the identification of one of the suspects varied greatly from the description Mr. Harris had given to the 911 operator. RP 95. All three of the suspects were described as young, which was also not the case. RP 91.

While Mr. Harris appeared certain of his identification, certainty is a poor measure of reliability. For this reason, this factor has become disfavored by courts and scientists. *See e.g., Brodes v. State*, 614 S.E.2d 766, 770–71 (Ga. 2005) (“In the 32 years since the decision in *Neil v. Biggers*, the idea that a witness's certainty in his or her identification of

a person as a perpetrator reflected the witness's accuracy has been flatly contradicted by well-respected and essentially unchallenged empirical studies.” (internal quotation marks omitted)); *Jones v. State*, 749 N.E.2d 575, 586 (Ind. App. 2001). This Court should not be satisfied that Mr. Harris certainty that he had identified the right people weighs in favor of admissibility.

This court should also be concerned with the potential cross racial identification. RP 91. One of the leading causes of misidentification results from the witness and suspect being of different races. *State v. Allen*, 176 Wn.2d 611, 637, 294 P.2d 679 (2013) (Wiggins, J., dissenting) (citing James M. Doyle, *Discounting the Error Costs: Cross-Racial False Alarms in the Culture of Contemporary Criminal Justice*, 7 Psychol. Pub. Pol’y & L. 253 (2001)). “The cross-race effect, also known as the own-race bias or other-race-effect, refers to the consistent finding that adults are able to recognize individuals of their own race better than faces of another, less familiar race.” John C. Brigham et al., *The Influence of Race on Eyewitness Memory*, 2 Handbook of Eyewitness Psychology: Memory for People, 257, 257-58 (Rod C. L. Lindsay et al. eds., 2006). The cross-racial nature of the identification procedure increases the risk of misidentification. All

three of the suspects were originally described by Mr. Harris as Africans, which Mr. Harris identified as a different and unique racial classification from himself, which was African American. RP 90.

Had the trial court properly examined the suggestibility of the show-up procedure here, the identification would have been excluded. That error requires reversal.

The admission of an impermissibly suggestive identification, is presumed prejudicial. *State v. Maupin*, 128 Wn.2d 918, 924, 913 P.3d 808 (1996). The State bears the burden of proving beyond a reasonable doubt that the fact finder would have reached the same result absent the error. *Chapman v. California*, 386 U.S. 18, 24, 87 S. Ct. 824, 17 L.Ed.2d 705 (1967).

While there was substantial evidence Mr. Ibrahim was in a stolen vehicle when he was arrested, this is insufficient to prove he was involved in the robbery of that vehicle. The evidence that ties him to the robbery is being arrested in Mr. Harris' vehicle and Mr. Harris' identification. The totality of the circumstances demonstrate that the identification procedure undermined Mr. Harris's ability to make an in-court identification. Mr. Ibrahim is entitled to a new trial where the identification is suppressed.

2. The court committed error requiring a new trial when it failed to instruct the jury upon eyewitness testimony.

- a. Problems with the reliability of eye witness testimony are widely recognized in jurisprudence but not in the general population.*

Problems with eyewitness identification evidence have been widely recognized in the courts and scientific community. *State v. Allen*, 176 Wn.2d at 616 (C. Johnson, J., lead opinion); Taki V. Flevaris & Ellie Chapman, *Cross-Racial Misidentification: A Call to Action in Washington State and Beyond*, 38 Seattle U. L. Rev. 861, 866 (2015). Eyewitness misidentification is the most common cause of wrongful convictions. Jennifer Devenport, et al, *Effectiveness of Traditional Safeguards Against Erroneous Conviction Arising from Mistaken Eyewitness Identification*, in *Expert Testimony of the Psychology of Eyewitness Identification*, 51 (Brian L. Cutler ed., 2001) (“For several decades now, scholars and social scientists have studied miscarriages of justice occurring in the American legal system and have drawn the same conclusion: Mistaken eye witness identifications is the lead cause of wrongful convictions.”). Eyewitness identification is erroneous approximately one third of the time. Flevaris, 38 Seattle U. L. Rev. at 869 (*citing* Brief for Am. Psychological Ass'n as Amici Curiae Supporting Petitioner at 14-17, *Perry v. New Hampshire*, 132 S.

Ct. 716, 181 L.Ed.2d 694 (2012) (explaining that “researchers have conducted a variety of studies of actual witness identifications ... [that] have consistently found that the rate of inaccurate identifications is roughly 33 percent”)); *see also, e.g., Bruce W. Behrman & Sherrie L. Davey, Eyewitness Identification in Actual Criminal Cases: An Archival Analysis*, 25 *Law & Hum. Behav.* 475, 482 (2001) (study of actual lineups finding that eyewitnesses identified suspects 50% of the time and mistakenly identified lineup “foils”--unrelated individuals inserted into the lineups--24% of the time)).

Despite the mounting evidence that eyewitness testimony is unreliable, jurors continue to accept it even when the evidence is itself is flawed. Elizabeth F. Loftus, *Eyewitness Testimony* 9 (1979) (“Jurors have been known to accept eyewitness testimony pointing to guilt even when it is far outweighed by evidence of innocence.”). Jurors tend to “overbelieve eyewitnesses, have insufficient understanding of the factors that affect memory, and are overly swayed by eyewitness confidence, which is not very diagnostic of accuracy and apt to be inflated by the time the eyewitness reaches the courtroom.” Michael R. Leippe et al., *Timing of Eyewitness Expert Testimony, Jurors' Need for Cognition, and Case Strength as Determinants of Trial Verdicts*, 89 *J.*

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