A. ISSUES

1. Evidence of identification made at a showup procedure is

admissible unless the procedure was unduly suggestive and created a

substantial likelihood of irreparable misidentification. Here, the victim

spoke with the three men before they all got into his car, rode with them

for about 20 minutes from downtown Seattle to Tukwila, physically

struggled with all three men when they stole his car at gunpoint, and then

identified each of them individually and without hesitation at a showup

procedure within an hour of the robbery. Have the defendants failed to

show that the trial court abused its discretion by admitting the showup

identification evidence?

2. The invited error doctrine is a strict rule that precludes a

defendant from seeking appellate review of an error he helped create.

Here, Ali proposed an eyewitness identification jury instruction. But

Ibrahim did not propose such an instruction, nor did he join Ali in the

proposal of the instruction. Moreover, Ibrahim took no exceptions to the

trial court's final jury instructions. Ali has not appealed the trial court's

rejection of his proposed instruction. Does the invited error doctrine

preclude review of Ibrahim's claim that the trial court erred by rejecting an

instruction he never offered?
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3. A defendant has no due process right to an eyewitness

identification jury instruction, even when cross-racial identification issues

are involved. Here, there were no cross-racial identification issues

because the victim and all three codefendants are black. Has Ibrahim

failed to show that the trial court abused its discretion by declining to give

an eyewitness identification jury instruction when he was able to argue the

theory of his case based on the standard witness credibility and reasonable

doubt instructions?

4. A defendant has a right to be present at all critical stages of a

proceeding, but that right is not absolute and may be waived by the

defendant's misconduct in court. Here, after being warned by the court

that misconduct in front of the jury could result in his removal, Ali

interrupted closing arguments with an outburst during which he alleged

that his attorney had provided him drugs and solicited sex from him. After

being removed from court Ali refused to return to court and refused to

meet with his attorney. Has Ali failed to show that the trial court abused

its discretion by completing closing arguments without him present?

B. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

PROCEDURAL FACTS

Appellants Ali Ali and Abdishakur Ibrahim, along with their

codefendant Abdihakim Mohamed, were charged with Robbery in the
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First Degree. CP 1-2. The State alleged that on or about October 22,

2014, the three men robbed Michael Harris of his car at gunpoint. Id.

Pretrial, the court denied a motion to suppress Harris's

identification of the three defendants at a showup procedure conducted

within an hour of the robbery. RP1 101-04; CP 105-10. The trial court

declined to give an eyewitness identification jury instruction proposed by

Ali. RP 572-73

The jury convicted all three men of Robbery in the First Degree.

CP 12, 87; RP 702. Ali was sentenced to 50 months in custody, within the

standard range based on his offender score of three. CP 91-100. Ibrahim

received a standard range sentence of 35 months. CP 16-24

2. SUBSTANTIVE FACTS

a. The Pretrial CrR 3.6 Hearing To Suppress Showup
Identification Evidence.

A single witness, Deputy Jose Bartolo, testified at the pretrial

hearing. RP 39-65. Bartolo's incident report was admitted. RP 50;

Pretrial Ex. L An audio recording of victim Michael Harris's call to 911

was also admitted. RP 88; Pretrial Ex. 3. Additionally, the parties filed a

stipulation for the purposes of the CrR 3.6 hearing. CP 80-81.

I The verbatim report of proceedings consists of several pretrial and trial volumes that
are consecutively paginated. This brief will refer to the transcripts using the notation

"RP _." The sentencing transcript will be referred to as "SRP _ "
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On October 22, 2014, King County Sheriff's Deputy Jose Bartolo

(working as a Seatac Police patrol officer) answered a call involving

"possible robbery of a vehicle" at a convenience store on International

Boulevard. RP 39-40. Bartolo arrived at the scene at 10:56 p.m. and met

with the victim, Mike Harris. RP 42, 53. Harris was "angry, upset."

RP 51. Harris told Bartolo that he had met three men in downtown Seattle

and had given them a ride to Seatac Center, at which point the three men

robbed him of his car at gunpoint. RP 42-43. Harris told Bartolo that

when he was driving the three men there was no real conversation and that

he didn't really interact with them but instead listened to music. RP 54.

After talking with Harris for 15 to 20 minutes, Bartolo was notified

by radio that other officers had stopped Harris's car. RP 44, 52. Bartolo

told Harris that his car had been stopped with three subjects in it, and that

they would go to the scene to see if he could identify the persons who took

his car. RP 44-45. They arrived at the scene where Harris's car had been

stopped at 11:54 p.m. RP 54. Bartolo pulled his car to within 30 to 40

feet of Harris's stolen car. RP 46. As they arrived Bartolo saw three

suspects in handcuffs, but at the time of his pretrial testimony he did not

recall where or how they were positioned at the time of his arrival.

RP 45-46. The area was lighted by streetlights and his car's headlights

were directed toward Harris's car where the showup identification
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procedure occurred. RP 46-47. Bartolo had no problems seeing any of

the three subjects during the procedure. RP 46-47.

Each of the three suspects was brought separately to an area within

about two car lengths of Bartolo's car. RP 47-49. As each was separately

brought forward, Bartolo trained his spotlight on the subject. RP 48.

Bartolo was able to clearly see each suspect's face, clothes, and ethnicity.

RP 48-49. Bartolo testified that Harris positively identified each suspect

as he was brought forward. RP 49-50. Harris had no reservations in

identifying any of the three suspects. RP 50. Asked how long it took

Harris to identify each of the subjects as they were presented to him,

Bartolo said "it was pretty instant." RP 58. Harris identified one of the

subjects as being the one who had the gun. RP 58.

Harris's 911 call was admitted in the pretrial hearing. RP 88.

Harris immediately told the operator: "I just got a gun stuck in my face,

and uh, these, these kids, these three kids, they stole my red Geo Prizm."

Pretrial Ex. 3. Asked how many minutes ago it occurred, Harris

responded: "About five. They put a gun in my face, put me on the

ground. [Unintelligible] goin' to blow my head off if they didn't let me

take my car [sic]. And they took my car. They were Africans." Pretrial

Ex. 3. Harris went onto describe the suspects as three black males,

"maybe in their early 20s, late teens." Pretrial Ex. 3. When asked if he
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noticed what any of them were wearing, Harris responded: "Um, one guy

was wearing a dark blue uh, [unintelligible] jacket with dark pants, one

guy was wearing a, a white shirt with dark pants, and the other one was

wearing a gray coat with a, he probably was the youngest uh, hell, he

couldn't been no more than 15 or 16, with uh, dark pants." Pretrial Ex. 3.

Harris said he believed it was the youngest one in the gray jacket who had

the gun. Pretrial Ex. 3. Harris said he thought he was going to be shot and

that he was scared to death. Pretrial Ex. 3.

Deputy Bartolo's police report was also admitted as a pretrial

e~iibit. RP 50; Pretrial Ex. 1. The three arrested suspects were: Ali Ali,

Abdishakur Ibrahim, and Abdihakim Mohamed. Pretrial Ex. 1. The race

of each of the suspects was recorded as "black." Pretrial Ex. 1. Based on

the birthdates of each of the suspects shown on the report, on the date of

the incident Mohamed was 20 years old, Ibrahim was 22, and Ali was 35.

Pretrial Ex. 1. The victim, Michael Harris, is listed on the report as a

57-year-old black male. Pretrial Ex. 1.

Also considered by the trial court was the "Stipulation of the

Parties Regarding 3.6 Motion." CP 80-81. The parties stipulated:

1. The description provided by Mr. Harris of Defendant-Ali's

clothing is different than the clothing on Defendant-Ali at the

time of arrest.
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2. Officer Bartolo was the only officer who communicated with

Mr. Harris regarding the one-on-one identification.

3. The entirety of the 911 CD should be considered for the

purposes of the 3.6 hearing.

After hearing the testimony of Deputy Bartolo and considering the

exhibits and the stipulation of the parties, the trial court found that the

defendants had failed in their burden to show that the showup procedure

was impermissibly suggestive, and, therefore, the evidence of the showup

identifications was admissible. RP 100-02. In its oral findings, the court

found a number of factors significant to its ruling, including that the

victim, Harris, relayed information to the 911 operator "fairly calmly";

it was only 55 minutes from the time of the 911 call to the showup

procedure; in the 911 call, Harris described the three suspects as Africans

and described the clothes they were wearing; at the showup, Harris

identified the three suspects "quite clearly" and with "no hesitation,"

including identifying which one had the gun. RP 101-02.

The trial court rejected defense arguments that the use of the

spotlight was impermissibly suggestive: "I know that the spotlight was

used, which would make sense considering it's 11:00 p.m. at night. And if

a spotlight hadn't been used, if lighting hadn't been used, that would be

the argument in front of me. That there was insufficient lighting."
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RP 101. The court was also unpersuaded by defense arguments that

Harris's 911 call description of the age of the suspects led to a conclusion

that the showup procedure was suggestive. Noting that Harris was 57, the

court said that his saying that "three kids stole my car," was likely a matter

of perception, and that: "There's a difference between perception and age.

His perception of age is not the same as it being a suggestible showup."

RP 101-02.

The trial court entered written findings of fact and conclusions of

law.2 The court's undisputed facts included:

• The victim was able to not only identify the three suspects, but

where each African-American suspect was seated in his vehicle

during the drive to the scene of the crime.

• The witness had over 20 minutes to view all three suspects inside

the vehicle during the drive to Tukwila and for many minutes

while walking together to the victim's vehicle.

• There is no evidence to suggest that the victim was under the

influence of any drugs or alcohol and his statement and interview

with defense shows that he not only had a clear recollection of the

events, but had a heightened sense of attention.

Z There was a delay in filing the written findings of fact and conclusions of law from the

CrR 3.6 hearing. The findings were filed on October 8, 2015. CP 105-10. T`he trial
prosecutor filed a declaration indicating that he had not spoken to the appellate unit about

the case and was not aware of the appeal issues when he filed the findings. Id.
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• The witness was able to describe the ethnicity of all three suspects,

their age, and generally what type of clothing all three were

wearing.

• The victim had no doubt that the three individuals, who were

removed one by one, were the ones who stole his vehicle at

gunpoint.

• 'The time between the crime and confrontation was 55 minutes, on

the same day of the crime.

CP 105-06.

b. Trial Testimony.

At trial, Michael Harris testified that he had been a resident of

Seattle for over 10 years and had been employed as a trucker but was laid

off in October, 2013. RP 461-62. To make ends meet he sometimes

worked for a temp agency, helped people move, or offered rides to people.

RP 463. He would pick people up in downtown Seattle and offer them

rides home for money. RP 463-64. He didn't take people who appeared

drunk because he didn't need the hassle. RP 464.

On October 22, 2014, Harris was offering people rides from

downtown Seattle. RP 466. That night he was at Second and Yesler

talking to an individual about a potential ride when another man

interrupted and asked Harris if he could give him a ride to his car in
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Tukwila. RP 468. Harris said it was going to cost him, and the man said

"I got you," which Harris took to be an agreement that he would be paid.

Id. In court, Harris identified codefendant Abdihakim Mohamed as the

man who approached him about getting a ride to his car. RP 470. Harris

and Mohamed and two men with Mohamed then walked to where Harris's

car was parked. RP 470-71. In court, Harris identified the other two men

as Ali and Ibrahim. RP 471. Harris said that the two men had been

present when he was talking to Mohamed and that he had gotten a good

look at them. RP 471-72.

When the group arrived at Harris's car, Mohamed got into the front

passenger seat and the other two into the back seat. RP 472. Ibrahim sat

behind Mohamed and Ali sat behind Harris. RP 473. During the drive,

Harris listened to music. RP 510. He did not talk to the two in the

backseat, and spoke only a little bit with Mohamed in the front passenger

seat. RP 510. Harris drove south on the freeway to Tukwila and

Mohamed directed him to a multi-level parking facility near a Moneytree.

RP 474. The drive from Seattle had taken 20 - 30 minutes. RP 521.

Mohamed told Harris to drive to the upper level of the parking garage

where he said his car was parked. RP 474-75.

As Harris drove to the top of the parking facility his "street sense

kicked in" and he got a little suspicious. RP 475. When they reached the
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top there were two cars parked at that level and Mohamed pointed to one.

RP 476. Harris pulled next to the car and the three men started to get out.

Id. Harris got out, too, because he wanted to get paid. Id. Harris walked

to the back of the car to meet Mohamed and all three men "bum rushed"

him. RP 477. The three surrounded him and were all yelling at him.3

RP 477-78. Harris saw that one of them had a gun and Harris yelled,

"Don't kill me." RP 478. The man yelled at him, "Don't move or I'll

blow your head off." RP 479. Harris thought he was going to die.

RP 479. He kept yelling, "Please don't kill me." RP 482. The men were

pushing him and he slid along the side of the car. RP 478. With his back

against the car, Harris was pushed nearly completely around the car before

all of the men fell to the ground. RP 480-81. The man with the gun held

it to his head and told him not to move. RP 481. Harris could feel the gun

pressed to his left temple as his head was on the ground. RP 481. Then

the three men got into Harris's car and drove away. RP 478.

After the men left, Harris got up and saw that his wallet was on the

ground and its contents were scattered around. RP 482. He picked up the

contents of his wallet and walked down the parking garage ramp to a gas

3 Harris testified that all three men had African immigrant accents. RP 479-80.

-11-

1603-11 Ali-Ibrahim COA



station across the street where an attendant called 911 at his request.4

RP 483-84. Several police officers arrived quickly. RP 483. Harris was

very shaken by what had happened, and he was very angry. RP 485. He

was angry because he was 57 years old, had been in the military, knew

about guns, but had never had anyone put a gun to his head. RP 485.

At 10:51 p.m., Deputy Jose Bartolo, with over 30 years of law

enforcement experience, was dispatched to meet Harris who had just

called in his report of the carjacking. RP 391-92. Bartolo met Harris at

the gas station and then they went across the street to the Moneytree

parking lot and Harris explained what had happened there. RP 393-96.

Bartolo found Harris to be angry and upset because his car had been taken

and a gun had been pointed at him. RP 392.

King County Deputy William Mitchem was on patrol and at

10:51 p.m. he heard a dispatch regarding an armed carjacking that

included the description of the stolen vehicle. RP 325-26, 351. At

11:43 p.m. he saw a car that matched the description and he called in the

license plate and received confirmation that it was the stolen car.

RP 328-29, 347. He broadcast his location and began following the car

and waited for backup officers to arrive. RP 329-30. When several other

officers arrived in separate cars they "boxed in" the stolen car and stopped

4 Harris had a cellphone, but it was plugged into a charger in his car when the car was

taken. RP 502.
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it. RP 330-32. Officers surrounded the car and ordered the occupants out.

Ibrahim was the driver, Mohamed was in the front passenger seat, and Ali

was in the right-rear seat. RP 335, 362.

Harris was sitting in Bartolo's police car working on his statement

with the officer when they heard over the radio that his car had been

stopped. RP 398, 488. With Harris in the backseat, Bartolo then drove to

the location of the stopped car. RP 398. Both Bartolo and Harris testified

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